1998

Janice L. Debry v. Delbert T. Goates, M.D. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(2)(j) provides this Court's jurisdiction over this appeal transferred to this Court by the Utah Supreme Court.

**ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW, STANDARDS OF APPELLATE REVIEW,
PRESERVATION OF THE ISSUES**

1. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment on the basis that Debry failed to establish a doctor-patient relationship?

The granting of summary judgment presents questions of law, to be reviewed without deference for correctness. See e.g. Schurtz v. BMW of N. Am., Inc., 814 P.2d 1108, 1111-12 (Utah 1991).

This issue was addressed in Ms. Debry's memorandum opposing summary judgment (e.g. R. 237-238).

2. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment on the basis that Ms. Debry waived the doctor-patient privilege?

The granting of summary judgment presents questions of law, to be reviewed without deference for correctness. See e.g. Schurtz v. BMW of N. Am., Inc., 814 P.2d 1108, 1111-12 (Utah 1991).

This issue was addressed in Ms. Debry's memorandum opposing summary judgment (e.g. R. 239-242).

STATUTES AND RULES

The following statutes and rules pertain:

Utah Code Ann. §58-60-102

In addition to the definitions in Section 58-1-102, as used in this chapter:

(1) "Client" or "patient" means an individual who consults or is examined or interviewed by a mental health therapist acting in his professional capacity.

(2) "Confidential communication" means information, including information obtained by the mental health therapist's examination of the client or patient, which is:

(a) (i) transmitted between the client or patient and a mental health therapist in the course of that relationship; or

(ii) transmitted among the client or patient, the mental health therapist, and individuals who are participating in the diagnosis or treatment under the direction of the mental health therapist, including members of the client's or patient's family; and

(b) made in confidence, for the diagnosis or treatment of the client or patient by the mental health therapist, and by a means not intended to be disclosed to third persons other than those individuals:

(i) present to further the interest of the client or patient in the consultation, examination, or interview;

(ii) reasonably necessary for the transmission of the communications; or

(iii) participating in the diagnosis and treatment of the client or patient under the direction of the mental health therapist.

(3) "Hypnosis" means, regarding individuals exempted from licensure under this chapter, a process by which one individual induces or assists another individual into a hypnotic state without the use of drugs or other substances and for the purpose of increasing motivation or to assist the individual to alter lifestyles or habits.

(4) "Individual" means a natural person.

(5) "Mental health therapist" means an individual licensed under this title as a:

(a) physician and surgeon, or osteopathic physician engaged in the practice of mental health therapy;

(b) registered psychiatric mental health nurse specialist;

(c) psychologist qualified to engage in the practice of mental health therapy;

(d) clinical social worker;

(e) certified social worker;

(f) marriage and family therapist; or

(g) professional counselor.

(6) "Mental illness" means a mental or emotional condition defined in an approved diagnostic and statistical manual for mental disorders generally recognized in the professions of mental health therapy listed under Subsection (5).

(7) "Practice of mental health therapy" means treatment or prevention of mental illness, including:

(a) conducting a professional evaluation of an individual's condition of mental health, mental illness, or emotional disorder consistent with standards generally recognized in the professions of mental health therapy listed under Subsection (5);

(b) establishing a diagnosis in accordance with established written standards generally recognized in the professions of mental health therapy listed under Subsection (5);

(c) prescribing a plan for the prevention or treatment of a condition of mental illness or emotional disorder; and

(d) engaging in the conduct of professional intervention, including psychotherapy by the application of established methods and procedures generally recognized in the professions of mental health therapy listed under Subsection (5).

(8) "Unlawful conduct" is as defined in Sections 58-1-501 and 58-60-109.

(9) "Unprofessional conduct" is as defined in Sections 58-1-501 and 58-60-110, and may be further defined by division rule.

Utah Code Ann. §58-60-113

Evidentiary privilege for mental health therapists regarding admissibility of any confidential communication in administrative, civil, or criminal proceedings is in accordance with Rule 506 of the Utah Rules of Evidence.

Utah Code Ann. §58-60-114

(1) A mental health therapist under this chapter may not disclose any confidential communication with a client or patient without the express consent of:

(a) the client or patient;

(b) the parent or legal guardian of a minor client or patient; or

(c) the authorized agent of a client or patient.

(2) A mental health therapist under this chapter is not subject to Subsection (1) if:

(a) he is permitted or required by state or federal law, rule, regulation, or order to report or disclose any confidential communication, including:

(i) reporting under Title 62A, Chapter 4a, Part 4, Child Abuse or Neglect Reporting Requirements;

(ii) reporting under Title 62A, Chapter 3, Part 3, Abuse, Neglect, or Exploitation of Disabled Adult;

(iii) reporting under Title 78, Chapter 14a, Limitation of Therapist's Duty to Warn;

(iv) reporting of a communicable disease as required under Section 26-6-6;

(b) the disclosure is part of an administrative, civil, or criminal proceeding and is made under an exemption from evidentiary privilege under Rule 506, Utah Rules of Evidence; or

(c) the disclosure is made under a generally recognized professional or ethical standard that authorizes or requires the disclosure.

Utah Code Ann. §78-24-8

There are particular relations in which it is the policy of the law to encourage confidence and to preserve it inviolate. Therefore, a person cannot be examined as a witness in the following cases:

(1) (a) Neither a wife nor a husband may either during the marriage or afterwards be, without the consent of the other, examined as to any communication made by one to the other during the marriage.

(b) This exception does not apply:

(i) to a civil action or proceeding by one spouse against the other;

(ii) to a criminal action or proceeding for a crime committed by one spouse against the other;

(iii) to the crime of deserting or neglecting to support a spouse or child;

(iv) to any civil or criminal proceeding for abuse or neglect committed against the child of either spouse; or

(v) if otherwise specifically provided by law.

(2) An attorney cannot, without the consent of his client, be examined as to any communication made by the client to him or his advice given regarding the communication in the course of his professional employment. An attorney's secretary, stenographer, or clerk cannot be examined, without the consent of his employer, concerning any fact, the knowledge of which has been acquired in his capacity as an employee.

(3) A clergyman or priest cannot, without the consent of the person making the confession, be examined as to any confession made to him in his professional character in the course of discipline enjoined by the church to which he belongs.

(4) A physician or surgeon cannot, without the consent of his patient, be examined in a civil action as to any information acquired in attending the patient which was necessary to enable him to prescribe or act for the patient. However, this privilege shall be deemed to be waived by the patient in an action in which the patient places his medical condition at issue as an element or factor of his claim or defense. Under those circumstances, a physician or surgeon who has prescribed for or treated that patient for the medical condition at issue may provide information, interviews, reports, records, statements, memoranda, or other data relating to the patient's medical condition and treatment which are placed at issue.

(5) A public officer cannot be examined as to communications made to him in official confidence when the public interests would suffer by the disclosure.

(6) A sexual assault counselor as defined in Section 78-3c-3 cannot, without the consent of the victim, be examined in a civil or criminal proceeding as to any confidential communication as defined in Section 78-3c-3 made by the victim.

Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 35

(a) **Order for examination.** When the mental or physical condition (including the blood group) of a party or of a person in the custody or under the legal control of a party is in controversy, the court in which the action is pending may order the party or person to submit to a physical or mental examination by a suitably licensed or certified examiner or to produce for examination the person in the party's custody or legal control. The order may be made only on motion for good cause shown and upon notice to the person to be examined and to all parties and shall specify the time, place, manner, conditions, and scope of the examination and the person or persons by whom it is to be made.

(b) **Report of examining physician.**

(1) If requested by a party against whom an order is made under Rule 35(a) or the person examined, the party causing the examination to be made shall deliver to the person examined and/or the other party a copy of a detailed written report of the examiner setting out the examiner's findings, including results of all tests made, diagnosis and conclusions, together with like reports of all earlier examinations of the same condition. After delivery the party causing the examination shall be entitled upon request to receive from the party against whom the order is made a like report of any examination, previously or thereafter made, of the same condition, unless, in the case of a report of examination of a person not a party, the party shows that the report cannot be obtained. The court on motion may order delivery of a report on such terms as are just, and if an examiner fails or refuses to make a report the court may exclude the examiner's testimony if offered at the trial.

(2) By requesting and obtaining a report of the examination so ordered or by taking the deposition of the examiner, the party examined waives any privilege the party may have in that action or any other involving the same controversy, regarding the testimony of every other person who has examined or may thereafter examine the party in respect of the same mental or physical condition.

(3) This subdivision applies to examinations made by agreement of the parties, unless the agreement expressly provides otherwise. This subdivision does not preclude discovery of a report of any other examiner or the taking of a deposition of an examiner in accordance with the provisions of any other rule.

(c) Right of party examined to other medical reports. At the time of making an order to submit to an examination under Subdivision (a) of this rule, the court shall, upon motion of the party to be examined, order the party seeking such examination to furnish to the party to be examined a report of any examination previously made or medical treatment previously given by any examiner employed directly or indirectly by the party seeking the order for a physical or mental examination, or at whose instance or request such medical examination or treatment has previously been conducted. If the party seeking the examination refuses to deliver such report, the court on motion and notice may make an order requiring delivery on such terms as are just; and if an examiner fails or refuses to make such a report the court may exclude the examiner's testimony if offered at the trial, or may make such other order as is authorized under Rule 37.

Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 56

(a) **For claimant.** A party seeking to recover upon a claim, counterclaim or cross-claim or to obtain a declaratory judgment may, at any time after the expiration of 20 days from the commencement of the action or after service of a motion for summary judgment by the adverse party, move with or without supporting affidavits for a summary judgment in his favor upon all or any part thereof.

(b) **For defending party.** A party against whom a claim, counterclaim, or cross-claim is asserted or a declaratory judgment is sought, may, at any time, move with or without supporting affidavits for a summary judgment in his favor as to all or any part thereof.

(c) **Motion and proceedings thereon.** The motion, memoranda and affidavits shall be filed and served in accordance with CJA 4-501. The judgment sought shall be rendered if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. A summary judgment, interlocutory in character, may be rendered on the issue of liability alone although there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages.

(d) **Case not fully adjudicated on motion.** If on motion under this rule judgment is not rendered upon the whole case or for all the relief asked and a trial is necessary, the court at the hearing of the motion, by examining the pleadings and the evidence before it and by interrogating counsel, shall if practicable ascertain what material facts exist without substantial controversy and what material facts are actually and in good faith controverted. It shall thereupon make an order specifying the facts that appear without substantial controversy, including the extent to which the amount of damages or other relief is not in controversy, and directing such further proceedings in the action as are just. Upon the trial of the action the facts so specified shall be deemed established, and the trial shall be conducted accordingly.

(e) **Form of affidavits; further testimony; defense required.** Supporting and opposing affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein. Sworn or certified copies of all papers or parts thereof referred to in an affidavit shall be attached thereto or served therewith. The court may permit affidavits to be supplemented or opposed by depositions, answers to interrogatories, or further affidavits. When a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as provided in this rule, an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleading, but his response, by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. If he does not so respond, summary judgment, if appropriate, shall be entered against him.

(f) **When affidavits are unavailable.** Should it appear from the affidavits of a party opposing the motion that he cannot for reasons stated present by affidavit facts essential to justify his opposition, the court may refuse the application for judgment or may order a continuance to permit affidavits to be obtained or depositions to be taken or discovery to be had or may make such other order as is just.

(g) **Affidavits made in bad faith.** Should it appear to the satisfaction of the court at any time that any of the affidavits presented pursuant to this rule are presented in bad faith or solely for the purpose of delay, the court shall forthwith order the party employing them to pay to the other party the amount of the reasonable expenses which the filing of the affidavits caused him to incur, including reasonable attorney's fees, and any offending party or attorney may be adjudged guilty of contempt.

Utah Rule of Evidence 506

(a) **Definitions.** As used in this rule:

(1) "Patient" means a person who consults or is examined or interviewed by a physician or mental health therapist.

(2) "Physician" means a person licensed, or reasonably believed by the patient to be licensed, to practice medicine in any state.

(3) "Mental health therapist" means a person who is or is reasonably believed by the patient to be licensed or certified in any state as a physician, psychologist, clinical or certified social worker, marriage and family therapist, advanced practice registered nurse designated as a registered psychiatric mental health nurse specialist, or professional counselor while that person is engaged in the diagnosis or treatment of a mental or emotional condition, including alcohol or drug addition.

(b) General rule of privilege. If the information is communicated in confidence and for the purpose of diagnosing or treating the patient, a patient has a privilege, during the patient's life, to refuse to disclose and to prevent any other person from disclosing (1) diagnoses made, treatment provided, or advice given, by a physician or mental health therapist, (2) information obtained by examination of the patient, and (3) information transmitted among a patient, a physician or mental health therapist, and persons who are participating in the diagnosis or treatment under the direction of the physician or mental health therapist, including guardians or members of the patient's family who are present to further the interest of the patient because they are reasonably necessary for the transmission of the communications, or participation in the diagnosis and treatment under the direction of the physician or mental health therapist.

(c) Who may claim the privilege. The privilege may be claimed by the patient, or the guardian or conservator of the patient. The person who was the physician or mental health therapist at the time of the communication is presumed to have authority during the life of the patient to claim the privilege on behalf of the patient.

(d) Exceptions. No privilege exists under this rule:

(1) Condition as element of claim or defense. As to a communication relevant to an issue of the physical, mental, or emotional condition of the patient in any proceeding in which that condition is an element of any claim or defense, or, after the patient's death, in any proceedings in which any party relies upon the condition as an element of the claim or defense;

(2) Hospitalization for mental illness. For communications relevant to an issue in proceedings to hospitalize the patient for mental illness, if the mental health therapist in the course of diagnosis or treatment has determined that the patient is in need of hospitalization;

(3) Court ordered examination. For communications made in the course of, and pertinent to the purpose of, a court-ordered examination of the physical, mental, or emotional condition of a patient, whether a party or witness, unless the court in ordering the examination specifies otherwise.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
NATURE OF THE CASE, COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION

Ms. Debry filed suit against Delbert E. Goates, M.D., in a complaint alleging medical malpractice as a result of an affidavit Goates wrote, which was filed by Ms. Debry's former husband in Ms. Debry's divorce case, Janice L. Debry v. Robert J. Debry, Civil No. 94401038DA (R. 69-80) (R. 1-3).¹

After Goates filed his answer to the complaint (R. 7-9), Debry obtained leave of the trial court and filed an amended complaint alleging medical malpractice, slander per se, and intentional infliction of severe emotional distress, stemming from the issuance of the affidavit (R. 21-27, 49). Goates then filed an answer to the amended complaint (R. 50-52).

Goates moved for summary judgment (R. 107-223, 226-227), Debry opposed the motion (R. 230-307), and Goates filed a reply memorandum in support (R. 331-366).

Judge Wilkinson heard the motion and granted it in an order dated and filed on June 22, 1998 (R. 544-547).

Debry filed a timely notice of appeal on July 20, 1998 (R. 550).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

During the course of a divorce between Ms. Debry and her former husband, Robert Debry, which was being heard by Judge Homer

¹ The record of the divorce case, which is also on appeal, in case number 960571-CA, has been supplemented to the record in this case. Unless expressly noted that reference is being made to the divorce case, citations to the record are to the district court pleadings files in this case.

F. Wilkinson, the defendant in this case, Delbert T. Goates, M.D., signed an affidavit on behalf of Mr. DeBry, indicating that Ms. DeBry was mentally ill, and recommending that excessive alimony might exacerbate her conditions. The affidavit stated,

My name is Delbert T. Goates. I give the following testimony under oath.

1. I am an adult and child psychiatrist.

2. I have had numerous consultations with Jan DeBry from June 17, 1990 to the present.

3. In addition, I have had consultations with her current husband, her first husband and all of her children.

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