1998

Janice L. Debry v. Delbert T. Goates, M.D., : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

A. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT THERE WAS NOT A DOCTOR-PATIENT RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN DR. GOATES AND MS. DEBRY AS A MATTER OF LAW.

Dr. Goates presented abundant testimony, specifically the testimony of Ms. DeBry, that Dr. Goates did not act as Ms. DeBry's treating physician, and that no doctor-patient privilege applied. Contrary to the assertions of Ms. DeBry, the doctor-patient privilege is the privilege of Ms. DeBry, not Dr. Goates. Dr. Goates belief as to a doctor-patient privilege is irrelevant when Ms. DeBry is adamant in her testimony that a doctor-patient relationship never existed. (R. 175 at p. 25, lines 2-3; R. 180 at p. 42, lines 15-19; R. 180 at p. 43, lines 1-12; R. 182 at p. 52, lines 22-25; R. 190 at p. 83, lines 16-24; R. 201 at p. 129, lines 17-19; R. 202 at p. 130, lines 20-25; R. 202 at p. 131, lines 1-5). The trial court did not err in ruling that as a matter of law, there was no doctor-patient privilege between Ms. DeBry and Dr. Goates to be violated. Therefore there could be no cause of action for medical malpractice.

B. ANY DOCTOR-PATIENT PRIVILEGE WHICH HAD BEEN ESTABLISHED PRIOR TO THE FILING OF DR. GOATES' AFFIDAVIT WAS WAIVED THROUGH THE ACTIONS OF MS. DEBRY IN PLACING HER MENTAL CONDITION BEFORE THE COURT.

Through her own testimony, Ms. DeBry admits that her mental condition became an issue in the DeBry Divorce case, the proceeding in which Dr. Goates' Affidavit was filed. (R. 182 at pp. 52-53). Ms. DeBry was seeking monetary payments from her ex-husband in an attempt to pay for her psychological counseling, thereby placing her mental state at issue in the DeBry Divorce proceeding. (R. 217-223; R. 361). Further, Ms. DeBry admits that Dr. Goates became a witness, or potential witness, in the DeBry Divorce case, and that Dr. Goates had been deposed by her counsel of record in the DeBry Divorce proceeding. (R. 187 at p. 71, lines 21-24). Ms. DeBry has, therefore, waived any privilege, to the extent one ever existed.

C. ANY STATEMENTS MADE BY DR. GOATES IN THE DEBRY DIVORCE PROCEEDING WERE ABSOLUTELY PRIVILEGED.

Ms. DeBry admits that Dr. Goates was a witness, or potential witness, in the DeBry Divorce proceeding. (R. 187 at p. 71, lines 21-24; R. 187 at p. 72, lines 1-16). Ms. DeBry had placed her mental state at issue through the filing of her affidavit seeking support, and Dr. Goates filed his affidavit during the DeBry Divorce proceeding. (R. 361; R. 284).

Under Utah law, there is an absolute privilege associated with statements made during a juridical proceeding which concern or reference the subject matter of the proceeding, and which are made by a witness to the judicial proceeding. Price v. Armour, 949 P.2d 1251 (Utah 1997) (citations omitted). The privilege acts to bar subsequent actions based upon those statements. Id. at 1258.

Ms. DeBry's claim is barred in that any statements made by Dr. Goates were absolutely privileged, as they were made in the course of a judicial proceeding.

D. MS. DEBRY HAS WAIVED ALL FURTHER ISSUES ON APPEAL.

Ms. DeBry's Issues Presented for Review, Statement of Facts, and Summary of Argument indicate that she is no longer pursuing her claims for slander per se or infliction of emotional distress against Dr. Goates. (Appellant Brief at pp. 1, 9-15).

Ms. DeBry has failed to argue that the Third District Court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Dr. Goates on the issues of slander per se and intentional infliction of emotional distress. The Appellate Court should refuse to consider issues that are not raised with specificity in an appellant's brief. Issues not raised and briefed by the appellant are considered abandoned or waived. 5 Am. Jur. 2d Appellate Review § 557 (1995).

The Utah Supreme Court has refused to consider issues that are not raised in an appellant's brief. In the case of Armstrong Rubber Co. v. Bastian, 657 P.2d 1346 (Utah 1983), the Utah Supreme Court held that issues not argued in the appellant's brief are deemed to be abandoned. In Armstrong, the Supreme Court stated:

Defendant has not favored us with any argument in his brief on that subject, and we can only assume that he has abandoned his objection thereto.

Id. at 1348.

More recently in the case of Burns v. Summerhays, 927 P.2d 197 (Utah App. 1996), the Utah Court of Appeals refused to consider issues raised by the appellant because the appellant had failed to provide adequate legal analysis or authority in support of any of his

claims or assertions. The court stated that the appellant's brief must sufficiently comply with the briefing requirements under Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure § 24 to allow the court to understand what the particular errors being alleged were, where in the record those errors can be found, and why the alleged errors form the basis for reversal on appeal. *Id.* at 199 *citing* Demetropoulos v. Vreeken, 754 P.2d 960, 962, *cert denied* 765 P.2d 1278 (Utah 1988).

Ms. DeBry has similarly failed to brief either the slander per se or intentional infliction of emotional distress issue, include any citations to the record, or provide legal authority for her claim of error. Therefore, these claims are waived under the case law of the State of Utah.²

In the event Ms. DeBry attempts to raise any of these issues in her Reply Brief, Dr. Goates has proven that the statements were absolutely privileged under the case law of the State of Utah, and that no action for defamation or intentional infliction of emotional distress can survive. (R. 107-121). The trial court properly ruled that as a matter of law, Ms. DeBry's claims must fail.

² See also Reid v. Anderson, 211 P.2d 206 (Utah 1949); Bott v. DeLand, 922 P.2d 732 (Utah 1996); and Hamilton v. Park Dale Care Center, Inc., 904 P.2d 1110 (Utah App. 1995).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

MS. DEBRY HAS FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT THERE WAS A DOCTOR-PATIENT RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN DR. GOATES AND MS. DEBRY

Ms. DeBry argues that her “will or opinion certainly does not control the existence of a doctor-patient relationship”, and that it is Dr. Goates’ belief as to the existence of a doctor-patient relationship with Ms. DeBry that is controlling. (Appellant Brief at p. 19). In essence, Ms. DeBry is asking this Court to create a relationship which she does not believe exists. (R. 175 at p. 25, lines 2-3; R. 180 at p. 42, lines 15-19; R. 180 at p. 43, lines 1-12; R. 182 at p. 52, lines 22-25; R. 190 at p. 83, lines 16-24; R. 201 at p. 129, lines 17-19; R. 202 at p. 130, lines 20-25; R. 202 at p. 131, lines 1-5).

In making her argument, Ms. DeBry ignores Utah law concerning the doctor-patient privilege. Utah Code Ann. § 58-60-113 states that Rule 506 of the Utah Rules of Evidence applies to the admissibility of any privileged or confidential communications involving a mental health therapist in any administrative, civil, or criminal proceeding. Rule 506(c) specifically defines who may claim the privilege.

The privilege may be claimed **by the patient**, or the guardian or conservator of the patient. The person who was the physician or mental health therapist at the time of the communication is presumed to have authority during the life of the patient to claim the privilege on behalf of the patient.

(Emphasis added).

The doctor-patient privilege is for the benefit of the patient. Therefore, Ms. DeBry must have been a patient in order for the privilege to apply. State v. Carter, 888 P.2d 629 (Utah 1995).

During the course of Ms. DeBry's deposition, she was asked on at least twelve separate occasions whether a doctor-patient relationship existed between her and Dr. Goates. Her answer on each and every instance was an emphatic "no". Ms. DeBry testified that she was never a patient of Dr. Goates. (R. 175 at p. 25, lines 2-3; R. 179 at p. 38, lines 6-13; R. 179 at p. 41, lines 3-8; R. 180 at p. 42, lines 15-19; R. 180 at p. 43, lines 1-12; R. 182 at p. 52, lines 22-25; R. 190 at p. 83, lines 16-24; R. 192 at p. 91, lines 11-16; R. 201 at p. 129, lines 17-19; R. 202 at p. 130, lines 20-25; R. 202 at p. 131, lines 1-5). During questioning **by her own counsel**, Ms. DeBry testified as follows:

Q. Did you yourself see Dr. Goates as a patient regarding your mental state?

A. No. . . .

Q. Did he counsel you as to any mental disorder that you yourself might have suffered from?

A. No.

Q. Did you seek this kind of advice from Dr. Goates?

A. No.

(R. 201 at p. 129, lines 17-19; R. 202 at p. 130, line 25; R. 202 at p. 131, lines 1-5).

In support of her position that **her** belief as to a doctor-patient relationship is irrelevant, Ms. DeBry cites to the Kansas case of State v. Pitchford, 697 P.2d 896 (Kan. App. 1985). (Appellant Brief at p. 16-17). Pitchford involved a drunk driver who had been treated for

injuries sustained in an automobile accident, even though he objected to the treatment. The State then attempted to question the treating physician at a subsequent trial.

Mr. Pitchford argued that he was able to assert the doctor-patient privilege because, in hind sight, he was in fact a patient of the doctor who treated him. It was the **State** that argued that no doctor-patient privilege applied because Mr. Pitchford had attempted to forego medical treatment. Id. at 897. In denying the State's argument, the Kansas court stated that **the patient is the one with the privilege**. Id. at 899. Unlike Ms. DeBry, Mr. Pitchford never denied the existence of the doctor-patient relationship, but merely resisted the initial treatment.

Ms. DeBry **vehemently denied** that Dr. Goates was ever her doctor. She cannot now bring a cause of action based upon a doctor-patient relationship which, by her own admission, never existed. (R. 175 at p. 25, lines 2-3; R. 180 at p. 42, lines 15-19; R. 180 at p. 43, lines 1-12; R. 182 at p. 52, lines 22-25; R. 190 at p. 83, lines 16-24; R. 201 at p. 129, lines 17-19; R. 202 at p. 130, lines 20-25; R. 202 at p. 131, lines 1-5). As in Pitchford, the Utah Supreme Court has stated that the privilege belongs to the "client" or patient, not the doctor. State v. Carter, 888 P.2d 629 (Utah 1995). Ms. DeBry admits that no such relationship existed, therefore, no privilege existed.

The sole Utah case cited by Ms. DeBry in support of her position concerning the existence of a doctor-patient privilege is Berry v. Moench, 331 P.2d 814. Berry not only pre-dates the Utah Rules of Evidence, but concerned a conditional common law privilege which permits a physician to make disclosures of confidential information reasonably necessary to protect substantial interests of third persons. Id. at 817. The issue before the Berry court

concerned whether there was a substantial interest which would allow a doctor to convey confidential information about a patient. Id. at 818. Unlike the matter before this Court, there was no dispute that a doctor-patient relationship existed, not that there had been a release of confidential information concerning Mr. Berry, by his physician, to a third party, his prospective wife. Id. at 816.

Ms. DeBry has gone to great lengths in an attempt to create an issue of fact. At the trial court level, Ms. DeBry prepared a Motion to Strike her own deposition after Dr. Goates filed his Motion for Summary Judgment. Ms. DeBry claimed that she had not read her deposition nor made changes to her testimony. (R. 308-309).

Ms. DeBry is employing a similar tactic before this Court by claiming that she was on medication during her deposition, and therefore her testimony should be ignored. (Appellant Brief at p. 18). As with Ms. DeBry's Motion to Strike, even if assumed true, Ms. DeBry was given ample opportunity to "remember" that Dr. Goates was, in fact, her physician, and even now makes no attempt to argue that Dr. Goates acted as her physician at any time. Further, this "fact" was not raised before the Third District Court and is not properly before this Court on appeal. The Court should ignore such blatant attempts to circumvent her own sworn testimony.

Ms. DeBry also improperly cites to confidential evidence presented at the Prelitigation Hearing. (Appellant Brief at p. 19). Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-15(1) states that such citations to a prelitigation hearing is strictly prohibited.

Evidence of the proceedings conducted by the medical review panel and its results, opinions, findings, and determinations are not admissible as evidence in an action subsequently brought by the claimant in a court of competent jurisdiction.

(Emphasis added).

Ms. DeBry's citations to the Panel Opinion are clearly inappropriate, and should be ignored by this Court.

POINT II

MS. DEBRY WAIVED HER PRIVILEGE, IF ONE EVER EXISTED

As argued *supra*, Ms. DeBry has admitted that her mental or emotional condition was an element of a claim or defense in the DeBry Divorce case. Ms. DeBry's factual summary is incorrect, as is her reading of Rule 506(d)(1).

In the course of the DeBry Divorce, Ms. DeBry filed a *Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and Order to Show Cause*, which was supported by an affidavit signed by Ms. DeBry. (R. 217-223). Ms. DeBry's affidavit sought \$4,500.00 per month for medical, dental, and **counseling expenses**. (R. 361). Ms. DeBry admits that she filed this affidavit and that she was seeking monetary support in order to pay for her mental health counseling. (R. 180 at p. 45, lines 7-25; R. 181 at pp. 46-48; R. 182 at p. 53, lines 1-9). Ms. DeBry testified at her deposition as follows:

Q. Your mental state then became an issue for the parties and for the court for a period of time; isn't that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And it remained so until the latter part of that year, at which time agreement was made that your mental status wouldn't become an issue in the overall divorce proceedings. That's a true statement, isn't it?

A. I believe so.

Q. But during that period of time, your own doctors were consulted as to whether or not you did have some kind of a personality disorder or some kind of an emotional disturbance that would require an independent medical exam; is that correct?

A. If I understand what you're saying, it is correct.

(R. 182 at p. 53, lines 1-16).

Rule 506(d) of the Utah Rules of Evidence states:

No privilege exists under this rule:

(1) **Condition as element of claim or defense.** As to a communication relevant to an issue of the physical, mental, or emotional condition of the patient in any proceeding in which that condition is an element of any claim or defense, or, after the patient's death, in any proceedings in which any party relies upon the condition as an element of the claim or defense; . . .

(Emphasis added).

Rule 506 of the Utah Rules of Evidence does not condition the waiver of a privilege upon the patient (*i.e.*, Ms. DeBry) being the party that places her mental state or emotional condition at issue in the court proceeding. Ms. DeBry's affidavit placed her mental condition at issue. (R. 359-366).

Ms. DeBry cites the case of Styers v. Superior Court In and For County of Mohave, 779 P.2d 352 (Ariz. App. 1989), to support her position that she did not waive her privilege by placing her mental state at issue. (Appellant Brief at p. 23-25). While the Styers case involved a divorce action, the similarities end there.

The **sole** issue before the court in Styers involved whether a wife could subpoena and receive mental health records of her soon-to-be ex-husband concerning mental health treatments he received prior to their marriage. Id. at 354 *n.* 2. There was no debate over support payments to be made by either party for mental health counseling. Further, the approximately \$20,000.00 in post-marital mental health treatments were agreed-to by the wife, and the records of those treatments were never being requested. Id. at 353. However, the Arizona court stated that the **privilege surrounding the pre-marital records would be waived if the underlying condition was placed at issue.** Id. at 354 (emphasis added).

In the case of Middleton v. Beckett, 960 P.2d 1213 (Colo. App. 1998), which has been cited by Ms. DeBry, the court stated that the **privilege asserted by the patient is personal to the patient.** Id. at 1216. However, the court further stated that when a patient initiates a civil action or injects the issue of their physical or mental condition into the case, the patient waives his or her physician/patient privilege with respect to any condition raised. Id. at 1217.

Ms. DeBry argues that Mr. DeBry had placed her mental state at issue prior to the filing of her affidavit seeking support for mental health counseling, which placed her mental state at issue. (Appellant Brief at pp. 24-25). Ms. DeBry seems to argue that somehow an issue of fact is created thereby, as to whether or not she waived her privilege. This position is contrary

to Rule 506 of the Utah Rules of Evidence, is not supported by any case law, and should be ignored by this Court.

POINT III

DR. GOATES' STATEMENTS WERE MADE IN THE COURSE OF A COURT PROCEEDING, AND WERE ABSOLUTELY PRIVILEGED

Any statement made by Dr. Goates was absolutely privileged under Utah law. The Utah Supreme Court recently addressed the issue of absolute privilege in the case of Price v. Armour, 949 P.2d 1251 (Utah 1997).

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